THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
South Carolina Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III

Appellate Case No.: 2017-000620

RECEIVED

NOV 27 2017

SC Court of Appeals

BURTON FIRE DISTRICT.....Respondent,

vs.

CITY OF BEAUFORT.....Appellant.

And

BURTON FIRE DISTRICT.....Respondent,

vs.

TOWN OF PORT ROYAL.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Mary Bass Lohr  
Howell, Gibson & Hughes, P.A.  
Post Office Box 40  
Beaufort, SC 29901  
(843) 522-2400  
(843) 522-2429 (fax)  
mlohr@hgpha.com

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the lower court fail to properly consider the language in the contract defining “assessed value” that incorporated by reference the “assessed values” set forth in the October 16, 2010 tax bills?
- II. Did the lower court fail to consider and address the affirmative defenses of estoppel, waiver, laches, ultra vires, and reformation as asserted by the Town of Port Royal and the City of Beaufort?
- III. Did the lower court err in finding the position taken by the parties during previous summary judgment motions bears any relevance in this matter?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

These consolidated breach of contract cases were commenced by the filing of Summonses and Complaints in the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas on June 4, 2013. In its Complaints, the Burton Fire District (“Burton”) alleges that the Defendant City of Beaufort (“Beaufort”) and the Defendant Town of Port Royal (“Port Royal”) breached a Settlement Agreement entered into between the parties on September 2, 2010 by failing to pay to Burton the full amount of the annual payments Burton asserts are mandated by the Agreement. On October 2, 2015 these consolidated cases were referred to the Beaufort County Master-In-Equity in accordance with Section 14-11-85 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. These consolidated cases were tried before the Beaufort County Master-In-Equity on December 1 and 2, 2015. The Court took the matter under advisement and issued an order on October 24, 2016 finding on behalf of Burton. Beaufort and Port Royal timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration with the Court. The Court denied that Motion by Order filed March 8, 2017. This appeal follows.

Burton is a public service district that provides fire protection, firefighting, and first response emergency medical services to the properties located within its district. It was established in 1973 with a grant of authority to act from the legislature that was codified at Act No. 566, 1973 S.C. Acts. 1004-1006. Beaufort and Port Royal are municipalities that are adjacent to and border Burton’s district.

Over the years, both Port Royal and Beaufort have annexed into their respective municipalities properties that were located in Burton’s district. The

Settlement Agreement that is the subject of this lawsuit recites that Burton is indebted to the federal government by virtue of loan awarded to it in 1993 by the Farmers Home Administration, now the Rural Development Authority. A federal statute, 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b), provides certain protections to the service area of a federal debtor from certain aspects of municipal annexation while this federal loan remains outstanding. The Settlement Agreement further recites that Sections 5-3-310 through 5-3-313 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, which went into effect on May 1, 2000, provides that upon annexation of a portion of a special purpose district, the annexing municipality and the effected special purpose district must devise a plan to provide for the continuation and/or transfer of services, which plan must balance the equities between the municipality and the special purpose district so that each can efficiently and effectively serve their respective constituents. In 1996, Burton instituted an action in the Court of Common Pleas in Beaufort County, Burton Fire District v. City of Beaufort and Town of Port Royal, Case Number 2006-CP-07-0551, seeking a declaration of its rights under the aforementioned federal statute. This litigation resulted in a settlement by way of consent orders that governed the relationship between the parties through July 16, 2010.

In anticipation of the pending expiration of the foregoing consent orders, Burton instituted an action in 2009 in the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas, Burton Fire District v. City of Beaufort and Town of Port Royal, Case Number 2009-CP-07-3020 (hereinafter "Burton Litigation"). In this action, Burton sought a declaration of its rights under both the aforementioned federal statute

and state statutes. Shortly thereafter, Port Royal and Beaufort filed their own action in the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas, City of Beaufort and Town of Port Royal v. Burton Fire District, Case Number 2009-CP-07-4008. In this suit, Beaufort and Port Royal sought to maintain the status quo with respect to the provision of fire service and emergency medical service by and among Port Royal, Beaufort, and Burton, pending the disposition of the recently filed Burton Litigation.

Once again, the parties were able to resolve their differences and on September 2, 2010 memorialized the terms of their agreement in the Settlement Agreement that is the subject of these lawsuits. In connection with the negotiation, drafting and execution of the Settlement Agreement, each of the parties was independently represented by experienced and competent counsel: Bill Harvey for the City of Beaufort; Francis Cantwell for the Town of Port Royal; and Fred Kuhn for the Burton Fire District.

In the Settlement Agreement [**R. p. 392**], Burton acknowledges the right of Port Royal and Beaufort to annex property out of Burton's service area. In turn, Port Royal and Beaufort acknowledge the claim of Burton to be compensated both for the loss of tax revenue as a result of annexation and for providing services to Beaufort and Port Royal as set forth in the Agreement.

Attached to the Settlement Agreement, as an exhibit thereto, is a list of all the properties subject to the Settlement Agreement that had been annexed by Port Royal out of Burton's district ("Port Royal Annexed Properties"). [**R. p. 398**] A similar exhibit lists all of the properties subject to the Settlement Agreement

that had been annexed by Beaufort out of Burton's district ("Beaufort Annexed Properties"). **[R. p. 407]** On these exhibits each annexed property is separately listed and identified by its PIN or Property Identification Number. For each annexed property three columns, labeled "Appraised" "Assessed" and "Taxable VA," show the appraised, assessed, and taxable values for each annexed property.

Ordinarily, once a municipality annexes property into its jurisdiction, that municipality assumes responsibility for providing municipal services, such as fire protection, to the annexed property. Pursuant to the terms of the parties' Settlement Agreement, however, Burton is required to provide first response fire and emergency medical services to all of the "Port Royal Annexed Properties" and to all of the "Beaufort Annexed Properties" throughout the term of the Agreement.

The Settlement Agreement mandates that Port Royal will pay Burton for providing first response fire and emergency medical services to the Port Royal Annexed Properties. The payment is an annual, lump sum payment that is due on March 1st of each year during the term of the Settlement Agreement. The Settlement Agreement mandates that the following formula will be used to calculate the amount of each annual payment by Port Royal:

Burton Total Millage X Assessed Value of Port Royal Annexed  
Properties X 25%

**[R. p. 394]**

There is a footnote (hereinafter Footnote 3) following the phrase "Assessed Value" above which provides as follows:

“Defined as the assessed value of each subject property for the applicable service year. For example, the March 1, 2011 payment for services in, and cumulative annexations through, calendar year 2009 will use the assessed value established for the October 16, 2010 Beaufort County property tax bills.

**[R. p. 394]**

The Settlement Agreement contains similar provisions regarding Beaufort’s payment to Burton for the first response fire and emergency medical services provided by Burton to the Beaufort Annexed Properties, i.e., an annual lump sum payment due March 1st of each year. The Settlement Agreement mandates that the following formula will be used to calculate the amount of each annual payment by Beaufort:

Burton Total Millage X Assessed Value of Beaufort Annexed Properties X 19%.

**[R. p. 395]**

Additionally paragraph 7 of the Settlement Agreement references the property tax assessed values with specific relation to the values set forth on the 2010 tax bills. That section provides:

This Agreement shall be deemed to have commenced on July 1, 2010. The first payment will be due on or before March 1, 2011 and will be calculated using those properties listed on Exhibits B and C, as well as the property tax assessed values for those properties and millage from the tax bills that are scheduled to be sent out on October 16, 2010.

**[R. p. 396]**

As can be seen, the formulas for calculating the annual payment to Burton by Beaufort and Port Royal, except for the final percentage multiplier, are identical.

Pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreement, Burton provided first response fire and emergency medical services to all of the Beaufort and Port Royal Annexed Properties, and has continued to satisfactorily fulfill its obligations under the Settlement Agreement through the date of the trial.

The initial payment by Beaufort and Port Royal to Burton was due no later than March 1, 2011. At that time, Beaufort paid \$195,456.39 to Burton, while Port Royal paid \$154,493.34. The checks were cashed and no issue was raised regarding the underpayment for that year at that time.

Beaufort was late making its payment in 2012 because of a change of finance department staff. In trying to reconcile the amount owed because of the late payment, Burton's counsel Kuhn eventually raised the issue to Beaufort and Port Royal in June 2012 that the respective payments were short based on Burton's understanding of the Settlement Agreement. Beaufort and Port Royal were calculating their annual payment by utilizing the taxable assessed values (or post-exemption values) of the Annexed Properties. The taxable assessed values corresponded to the "assessed values" as they existed on the 2010 tax bill. **[R. p. 254]**. A review of the 2010 tax bill indicates that the assessed values on those tax bills were post-exemption values. At some point subsequent to the 2010 tax bills being issued, the assessed value changed on the Beaufort County tax bill to reflect pre-exemption value.

In 2012, when the discrepancy was first brought to light **[R. p. 549]**, the parties realized that while the municipalities were using the post-exemption value as reflected on the 2010 tax bill as "assessed value", Burton was calculating the

annual payment based upon pre-exemption values which were reflected as the assessed value on the Beaufort County tax bills at that time (and to the present). This amount was the pre-exemption value of the Annexed Properties. These properties were properties that were subject to statutory and other exemptions such as the homestead exemptions, religious exemptions and local government exemptions, and property belonging to the US Government including the Marine Corps Air Station and Parris Island, to name a few. For instance on the October 16, 2010 tax bill, the Marine Corps Air Station has an pre-exemption value shown on that bill as “taxable value” of \$25,728,030. However, it has an “assessed value” of \$0. **[R. p. 553]** This is because local government cannot tax the Federal Government; however tax bills are issued because of relevant stormwater fees.

Each of the parties re-involved their respective attorneys in an attempt to resolve the dispute. Neither party would concede to the interpretation being set forth by the other party(ies). Approximately a year later, Burton filed this lawsuit in June of 2013. **[R. p. 33]**

Through the March 1, 2015 payment, the City of Beaufort has paid the following amount towards each annual payment:

Amount Paid	Due Date
\$195,456.39	March 1, 2011
\$187,850.44	March 1, 2012
\$197,831.98	March 1, 2013
\$188,561.11	March 1, 2014

\$189,904.15

March 1, 2015

Each of the forgoing payments by the City of Beaufort was calculated by Beaufort utilizing post-exemption values of the Beaufort Annexed Properties, as opposed to the pre-exemption values. **[R. p. 431]**

If the payments by Beaufort to Burton for each of the foregoing years had been calculated utilizing the pre-exemption values of the Beaufort Annexed Properties, then the payments for 2011, 2012 and 2013 would have been \$13,477.90 higher each year, and the payments for 2014 and 2015 would have been \$14,905.18 higher each year, resulting in a total shortfall of \$70,244.06 through March 1, 2015 (Beaufort County underwent a reassessment between tax years 2013 and 2014).

Through the March 1, 2015 payment, the Town of Port Royal has paid the following amount towards each annual payment:

Amount Paid	Due Date
\$154,493.34	March 1, 2011
\$167,346.21	March 1, 2012
\$170,752.14	March 1, 2013
\$186,765.37	March 1, 2014
\$199,007.20	March 1, 2015

**[R. p. 431]** Each of the foregoing payments by the Town of Port Royal, like those paid by the City of Beaufort, was calculated by Port Royal utilizing the post-exemption values of the Port Royal Annexed Properties, as opposed to pre-exemption values.

If the payments by Port Royal to Burton had been calculated utilizing the pre-exemption values of the Port Royal Annexed Properties, then the annual payments for 2011, 2012 and 2013 would have been \$25,117.37 higher each year, and the payments for 2014 and 2015 would have been \$31,361.43 higher each year, resulting in a total shortfall of \$138,194.97 through March 1, 2015.

The dispute between these parties centers on the construction of the Settlement Agreement's formulas for calculating the annual payment. Burton contends the annual payment is calculated utilizing the pre-exemption values of the Annexed Properties, while Beaufort and Port Royal contend that the annual payment is calculated utilizing the post-exemption values the Annexed Properties. Although the formulas expressly recite that the "Assessed Value" is to be used, Footnote 3 goes on to define that term. Beaufort and Port Royal contend that, as used in the Settlement Agreement and defined at Footnote 3, this phrase is intended to mean post-exemption values as "assessed value" was reflected on the 2010 tax bill, as opposed to pre-exemption value as "assessed value" is currently reflected on the Beaufort County tax bill.

### **ARGUMENTS**

- I. The lower court failed to properly consider the language in the contract defining "assessed value" that incorporated by reference the "assessed values" set forth in the October 16, 2010 tax bills.**

Port Royal and Beaufort contend that the court erred in finding that the term "assessed value" as set forth in the Settlement Agreement means the assessed value before any relevant tax exemptions are applied. This definition of assessed value is in direct contravention to the definition of assessed value

found in the Settlement Agreement. The Settlement Agreement specifically defines “assessed value” as “the assessed value established for the October 16, 2010 Beaufort County property tax bills.” The “assessed value” on the 2010 tax bills are the assessed values for the properties after deductions are made for tax exemptions, or the post-exemption values.

Footnote Three of the Settlement Agreement specifically defines “assessed value” for the purpose of the Settlement Agreement. It is noted at the word “assessed value” used in the formula for calculating the payments owed and reads as follows:

“Defined as the assessed value of each subject property for the applicable service year. For example, the March 1, 2011 payment for services in, and cumulative annexations through, calendar year 2009 will use the assessed value established for the October 16, 2010 Beaufort County property tax bills.

**[R. p. 394]**

Importantly when read as a whole, the footnote makes specific reference to the assessed value established for the tax bills sent out in October 2010.

Additionally, the court failed to consider the express language of the settlement agreement contained in paragraph 7 of the contract referencing tax assessed values. That section provides:

This Agreement shall be deemed to have commenced on July 1, 2010. The first payment will be due on or before March 1, 2011 and **will be calculated using** those properties listed on Exhibits B and C, **as well as the property tax assessed values for those properties and millage from the tax bills that are scheduled to be sent out on October 16, 2010.** (emphasis added.)

This section, like Footnote 3, clearly explains that the payments *will be calculated* using the tax assessed values...from the tax bills that are scheduled to be sent out on October 16, 2010.

The Beaufort County tax bills sent out in October 2010 were submitted into evidence at trial and a review of those bills clearly demonstrates that the term “assessed value”, as testified to by Gary James as and as it currently exists on the Beaufort County tax bill, does not have the same meaning as it did on the October 16, 2010 Beaufort County tax bills referenced by the Settlement Agreement. **[R. pp. 552, 553]** Kathy Todd, CFO for the City of Beaufort, explained that she reviewed the October 16, 2010 tax bills and the values referenced as “assessed value” on those bills were the assessed value after any relevant tax exemptions were applied (or post-exemption values). Furthermore, she testified that the “assessed values” contained on the October 16, 2010 tax bills were not the same as the “assessed values” contained in the spreadsheets designated as Exhibits B and C to the Settlement Agreement. **[R. pp. 398 and 407]** In fact, the “assessed value” on the October 16, 2010 tax bills was the “Taxable VA” as contained on the spreadsheet. **[R. pp. 253-260]**

The court in this matter declined to consider the 2010 tax bills finding them to be inappropriate extrinsic evidence given its position that the contract language was clear in favor of Burton’s position. However, this finding is erroneous. In South Carolina, a contract can incorporate another document by reference. Twiggs v. Williams, 98 S.C. 431, 456, 82 S.E. 676, 679 (1914). The parties' intent is determined by the language of an agreement. Cullen v. McNeal,

390 S.C. 470, 483, 702 S.E.2d 378, 385 (Ct. App. 2014). There is no specific language one must state to incorporate another writing into a written agreement; however, a contract “must explicitly or at least precisely, identify the written material being incorporated and must clearly communicate that purpose of the reference is to incorporate the referenced material into the contract[.]” Stevens Aviation, Inc. v. Dyncorp Int'l LLC, 394 S.C. 300, 308, 715 S.E.2d 655, 659 (Ct. App. 2011), *rev in part on other grounds by Stevens Aviation, Inc. v. Dyncorp Int'l LLC*, 407 S.C. 407, 756 S.E.2d 148 (2014) (*citing Northop Grumman Info. Tech, Inc. v. United States*, 525 F.3d 1339 (Fed. Cir. 2008) (internal quotations omitted)).

These October 16, 2010 tax bills and the “assessed value” contained thereon are explicitly referenced by both Footnote Three and Paragraph 7 of the Settlement Agreement and incorporated by that reference into the Settlement Agreement. The assessed value on these tax bills was the value after any relevant tax exemptions were applied. Thus, it is clear that in the formula in the Settlement Agreement, the parties intended “assessed value” to mean the assessed value after exemptions are taken for that tax year.

Alternatively, while Port Royal and Beaufort believe this definition to be clear on the face of the contract given the incorporation by reference of the 2010 tax bills, at the very least the use of the term “assessed value” on the 2010 tax bill and the purported common use of the term as defined by Gary James in his testimony and set forth in Exhibits B and C, gives rise to an ambiguity.

Where the terms of a contract are clear and unambiguous, the construction of the contract is a matter of law, but where the terms of a contract are ambiguous, the intention of the parties becomes a question of fact. Holcombe v. Orkin Exterminating Co., Inc., 282 S.C. 104, 317 S.E.2d 458 (Ct.App.1984). Extrinsic evidence relating to the conditions surrounding the parties, the circumstances under which the contract was executed and the negotiation between the parties leading to the execution thereof is admissible to aid the jury in determining the intent of the parties if the contract is ambiguous. Garrett v. Pilot Life Ins. Co., 241 S.C. 299, 128 S.E.2d 171 (1962); see Columbia East Assoc. v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 299 S.C. 515, 386 S.E.2d 259 (Ct.App.1989).

There was a plethora of evidence submitted in this case that it was the intent of all parties to utilize the taxable assessed value or post-exemption value when the parties were negotiating and confirming their agreement.

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