THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
South Carolina Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III

Appellate Case No.: 2017-000620

BURTON FIRE DISTRICT

Respondent,

vs.

CITY OF BEAUFORT

Appellant.

And

BURTON FIRE DISTRICT

Respondent,

vs.

TOWN OF PORT ROYAL

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

H. Fred Kuhn, Jr., Esquire
Moss, Kuhn & Fleming, P.A.
Post Office Drawer 507
Beaufort, South Carolina 29901
843-524-3373

Attorneys for the Respondent

RECEIVED

AUG 28 2017

SC Court of Appeals

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

C. DISCUSSION

The Appellants spend the bulk of their brief attempting to explain why the parties utilized the term “assessed” in the formula to calculate the annual payment to Burton, but didn’t really mean it.

The Appellants' explanation as to why the word "assessed" secretly meant "taxable" is incongruous and incomprehensible. The Appellants argument that the phrase "assessed value" should not be given its universally recognized and long well established meaning is as follows:

"The lower court failed to properly consider the language in the contract defining "assessed value" that incorporated by reference the "assessed values" set forth in the October 16, 2010 tax bills."

Appellants' Initial Brief, pg. 9. Aside from the fact that this argument makes no sense, it is fatally defective inasmuch as it totally lacks any evidentiary support. Not a single October 16, 2010 tax bill was introduced into evidence. The only tax bills placed into evidence are from the following year, 2011. Defendant's Exhibits 24, 25, and 26.

Even if it were assumed for the sake of argument that there was some evidentiary support for the Appellants' argument, the Master in Equity properly rejected it. Appellants' argument is based upon footnote 3 of the Settlement Agreement. Footnote 3 follows the phrase "assessed value" in the annual payment formula for Port Royal, and it states, *in toto*:

Defined as the **assessed value** of each subject property for the applicable service year. For example, the March 1, 2011 payment for services in, and cumulative annexations through, calendar year 2009 will use the **assessed value** established for the October 16, 2010 Beaufort County property tax bills.

Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, pg. 3 (emphasis added). Rather than redefining "assessed value" to be synonymous with "taxable value" as Appellants argue, this footnote redundantly twice re-emphasizes that "assessed value" means "assessed value."

The first sentence of footnote 3, which Appellants tend to ignore, point blank and clearly recites that "assessed value" is "defined" as the "assessed value."

The second sentence of footnote 3, which is the focus of Appellants' argument, is clearly not an attempt to redefine "assessed value" to give it completely different meaning which it has

never held, but is simply, as it states, an example explaining the temporal relationship between the time of annexation, the time tax bills are sent out, and the time when a payment is due. This temporal relationship is explained in detail in paragraph 3(d) of the Settlement Agreement, as follows:

The parties acknowledge that real property taxes are paid in arrears and further acknowledge that properties annexed by Port Royal and Beaufort are not transferred to the tax rolls of those municipalities until the year following annexation, to-wit: A property annexed in 2009 will not be transferred to the municipal tax rolls until January 2010. As real property taxes are paid in arrears, the tax bills generated in October 2010 will reflect the status of properties as of December 31, 2009. Thus, the first payment due for subparts (A) and (B) of this paragraph will be based on properties annexed in 2009 (as well as, of course, all properties annexed after 1995 as identified on Exhibits B and C). Properties annexed in 2010 will be included in the tax notices issued in 2011, and so on.

Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, pg. 4.

In other words, a piece of property may be annexed in Year One of the Settlement Agreement, at which time Burton would immediately commence to provide fire protection and emergency medical services to that property on behalf of the annexing municipality. That property would not appear on the tax rolls, however, until Year Two. Burton would not receive payment for that piece of property until March 1 of Year Three. The second sentence of footnote 3 simply explains this temporal relationship between annexation, property tax bills, and the annual payment. As it recites, it is simply stating that, "for example" the annexed status of a property annexed in 2009 will not appear on the property tax bills until the following year, 2010, and payment will not be due until the following year, 2011.

This interpretation of footnote 3 is reinforced by footnote 2, which follows the term "millage" in the same annual payment formula. Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, pg. 3. Footnote 2 repeats

almost verbatim the verbiage of footnote 3, simply substituting the word “millage” for the word “assessed.”

The simple truth as to why the annual payments to Burton were shorted is that Beaufort’s Finance Director, Kathy Todd, simply made a mistake. Ms. Todd was the individual with Beaufort who was charged with making the payments to Burton. She was a brand new employee who was not involved with the negotiation or execution of the Settlement Agreement, having started her job with the City after the Settlement Agreement was executed. Transcript, Volume II, pg. 6, lines 3 – 23. When she prepared the check to Burton she prepared the check utilizing the exhibits to the Agreement, but for some reason utilized the values in the column labeled “taxable” as opposed to the values in the column labeled “assessed.” *Id.*, pg. 27, lines 7 – 23. She initially attempted to justify her mistake by referencing three (3) 2011 property tax bills with explanations that, quite frankly, made no sense. *Id.*, pg. 11, line 7 to pg. 13, line 22, Defendants’ Exhibits 24, 25 and 26. On cross examination, she was forced to admit that these bills had nothing to do with her mistake, inasmuch as one of them she did not see until 2012 and the other two she saw for the first time “just the other day” prior to trial. *Id.*, pg. 31, lines 1 – 20.

It is respectfully submitted that the Master in Equity properly credited the testimony of Gary James, the Beaufort County Assessor, as to the meaning of the term “assessed.” Even the Appellants’ attorney admitted on the record that “I’m sure the Assessor knows what the assessed value would mean . . .” Transcript Volume I, pg. 18, lines 10 – 11. The Beaufort County Assessor testified as follows:

Q. The word assessed value, does that mean anything to you?

A. Yes, it does.

Q. Is that a term that has a clear definition?

A. To the best of my knowledge, yes.

Transcript Volume I, pg. 17, lines 8 – 13 (emphasis added). The Assessor gave a detailed explanation as to what assessed value for property tax purposes means in Beaufort County. *Id.*, pg. 21, line 11 – pg. 25, line 15, and pg. 27, lines 1 – 8. In summary, Mr. James testified that the first step is to establish the market value of the property, which is synonymous with its appraised value, which is determined by what a willing buyer would pay a willing seller free of any outside forces or factors. Mr. James paraphrased §12-37-930 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, which provides in pertinent part as follows:

“All property must be valued for taxation at its true value in money which in all cases is the price which the property would bring following reasonable exposure to the market, where both the seller and the buyer are willing, are not acting under compulsion, and are reasonably well informed of the uses and purposes for which it is adapted and for which it is capable of being used.”

S.C Code Ann. §12-37-930(2010). *Id.*, pg. 21, line 13 to pg. 22, line 7. Mr. James testified that the appraised value then forms the basis for determining the assessed value, which is simply a ratio or a percentage of the appraised value. *Id.*, pg. 22, lines 8 – 11. Mr. James explained that the most common assessment ratios in Beaufort County are either 4% or 6%, resulting in an assessed value that is either 4% or 6% of the market or appraised value. *Id.*, pg. 22, lines 8 – 18. See, S.C. Code Ann. §12-43-200(2016).

Finally, Mr. James explained that taxes are based upon the taxable value of a property and that in most cases the assessed value and the taxable value are the same, but if a property qualifies for certain exemptions, then its taxable value will be lower than its assessed value. Mr. James summarized the difference between appraised, assessed, and taxable values as follows:

“Q. So the piece of property for tax purposes - - for property tax purposes will have an appraised value - -

A. Correct.

Q. - - Which is the fair market value. And then it will have an assessed value which is derived from the appraised value; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And then if that property, depending on its use, qualifies for certain exemptions, it may have a taxable value that is different from the assessed value?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. So if it was a 100% exempt, a government office building for example, it may be appraised at a million dollars, assessed at \$40,000 or whatever, \$60,000, but the taxable value may be zero because they don't have to pay taxes?

A. That's correct."

Id., pg. 24, line 22 – pg. 25, line 15. The Beaufort County Tax Assessor continued, testifying:

"Q. Are these well understood definitions in your field?

A. Yes sir.

Q. These are definitions that apply in Beaufort County?

A. Yes sir.

Id., pg. 25, lines 19 – 24.

The Master in Equity found that the Beaufort County Tax Assessor's testimony as to the definition of "assessed value" was not only credible, but was consistent with South Carolina's statutory and case law. Order, pg. 11. §12-43-220 of the South Carolina Code of Laws mandates that the ratio of assessment to value of property in each class shall be equal and uniform throughout the State and provides for various assessment ratios in order to determine the assessed value of property. For example, the assessed value of a primary residence is 4% of its fair market value. *Id.*, §12-43-220(c)(1), while the assessed value of real property not otherwise

specifically referenced in §12-43-220 has an assessed value equal to 6% of the property's fair market value. *Id.*, §12-43-220(e).

It is worth emphasizing that this Settlement Agreement was not something that was thrown together haphazardly, overnight, or by unsophisticated individuals. This Settlement Agreement resolved three (3) pending lawsuits. It was the result of extensive back and forth negotiations. All parties were represented by competent and experienced attorneys. The Settlement Agreement was the result of three (3) separate mediation sessions. These negotiations lasted for almost 2 years, both before and after the lawsuits were filed. Transcript Volume I, pg. 38, line 14 to pg. 40, line 1. The Appellants are municipal taxing authorities, intimately familiar with property taxes and the terms involved. The Appellants' attorneys were the ones tasked with drafting the settlement agreement. Transcript Volume I, pg. 126, lines 11 – 13. The Settlement Agreement went through several drafts and edits. *Id.*, pg. 128, lines 5 – 7. There were at least four different drafts of the Settlement Agreement and the Settlement Agreement that was finally signed by all parties was drafted by Port Royal's counsel. *Id.*, pg. 14, lines 17 – 25. Significantly, the term "assessed value," contained in the payment calculation formula was consistently present in every draft of the Settlement Agreement. The Appellant Port Royal's attorney testified as follows:

Q. Okay. And each of these drafts (of the Settlement Agreement) when it talks about the formula to be used, uses the term assessed value?

A. Correct.

Q. That remained consistent throughout every draft?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And that language was chosen by you?

A. Correct.

Id., pg. 143, lines 5-4.

The Appellant Port Royal's attorney further testified:

Q. . . . Okay. You see where assessed value has Footnote 3. And we are on Page 3 of 6 under Payment of Services. There is a footnote by the term assessed value. And can you read the footnote, the first sentence? Or I'll read it for you.

Defined as the assessed value of each subject property for the applicable service year: Is that correct?

A. Right.

Q. Who added that footnote?

A. I think I did.

Id., Transcript Volume I, pg. 144, lines 3 – 14.

The fact that the parties recognized that there was a difference between assessed values and taxable values is made clear by Exhibits B and C to the Settlement Agreement, which plainly and clearly recognize the difference between "assessed value" and "taxable value." Plaintiff's Exhibits 2, 3, 10, 11, 12, and 13. The parties to the Settlement Agreement obviously went to a lot of time and trouble documenting for each of hundreds of parcels their "assessed" and "taxable" values.

The final fatal flaw in Appellants' argument is that any individual tax bill is extrinsic evidence. Appellants are attempting to utilize the 2010 property tax bills (none of which are in evidence) to create an ambiguity that does not exist in the Settlement Agreement itself. As

previously noted, in order to allow extrinsic evidence, the ambiguity must be found within the “four corners” of the contract, *McPhearson v. JE Serrine & Company*, 206 S.C. 183, 204, 33 S.E.2d 501, 509 (1945), and an ambiguity cannot be created by pointing out a single sentence or clause, but rather, must be determined from the entire contract and not from isolated portions of the contract. *Yarborough v. Phoenix Mutual Life Insurance Company*, 266 S.C. 584, 592, 225 S.E.2d 344, 348 (1976) and *Farr v. Duke Power Company*, 265 S.C. 356, 362, 218 S.E.2d 431, 433 (1975).

“The Court’s duty is to enforce the contract made by the parties regardless of its wisdom or folly, apparent unreasonableness, or failure to guard their rights carefully.” *Blakely v. Rabon*, 266 S.C. 68, 73, 221 S.E.2d 767, 769 (1976). As the Master in Equity noted, he was not at liberty to re-write the contract, and it was his duty to enforce the contract as written and executed by the parties. The Appellants are sophisticated entities, with decades of experience in property taxation and its terminology. This Settlement Agreement was the result of extended and careful settlement negotiations in which all parties were represented by attorneys. The payment calculation formula expressly calls for “assessed value” to be used and the word “assessed” has a well-established meaning, as testified to by the unchallenged testimony of the Beaufort County Assessor and established by South Carolina’s statutory and case law. As the Master in Equity noted, if the parties had meant “taxable value,” it would be have been very easy to have so stated. The simple fact is that the phrase “taxable value” is not referenced or found anywhere within the four corners of the Settlement Agreement, much less within the formula for the annual payment. Order, pg. 13. In their Settlement Agreement, the parties agreed to a relatively simple formula for the annual payment which expressly references “assessed value.” It is respectfully

submitted that the Master in Equity properly enforced the contract of the parties as it was written and executed by the parties.

II. THE MASTER IN EQUITY DID NOT FAIL TO CONSIDER AND ADDRESS THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES OF ESTOPPEL, WAIVER, LACHES, ULTRA VIRES, AND REFORMATION AS ASSERTED BY THE TOWN OF PORT ROYAL AND CITY OF BEAUFORT.

Appellants assert that the Master in Equity failed to consider and address the Respondent's affirmative defenses of estoppel, waiver, laches, ultra vires, and reformation. Appellants' Initial Brief, pg. 15. This is incorrect. The Master in Equity expressly considered, addressed, and rejected these affirmative defenses. In his Order filed March 8, 2017 the Master in Equity ruled as follows:

“This matter came before me on Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration, filed November 7, 2016. After hearing from the parties and review of the file, I hereby deny the motion. Specifically, to the extent not addressed in the Final Order of the Court:

The Court rejects the defenses of waiver, estoppel and laches under the facts presented. Further, the Court rejects the “Ultra Vires” defense.

...

Any other relief not specifically granted is denied.”

Order filed March 8, 2017, pg. 1. The Court, accordingly, specifically considered and addressed the Appellants’ affirmative defenses.

Although the Appellants’ enumeration of alleged error is that the Court failed to consider and address their affirmative defenses, as opposed to alleging that the Court considered, addressed, and wrongfully decided against their affirmative defenses, out of an abundance of caution the Respondent will briefly address the merits of these defenses herein below.

A. ULTRA VIRES

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